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Ecclesiastical 
By the first quarter of the nineteenth century, the size and form of church buildings represented a 
transformation in the sacred landscape seen not only in New Hampshire, but throughout New 
England and along the Atlantic seaboard (Dempsey 2001: 33).  The Historic District includes one 
church from this period.  Peterborough Unitarian Church, originally the First Church (25 Main 
Street, Photos 17-20) and one of two churches fronting on Main Street, was completed in January 
1826 and dedicated the following month.  The design is attributed to a Mr. Kilburn (first name 
unknown) and appears to be based on plates in Asher Benjamin's 1820 edition of The American 
Builder's Companion (Morison and Smith 1954:164, 163).1  Rectangular in massing and set on a 
granite foundation the nave church consists of a three-bay by three-bay pedimented gable main block 
with full-height windows set in the blind arches on the long elevations.  On the façade each entry is 
set in a blind arch, with a sash window at the top of the arch.  A fan is centered in the flush-board 
sided closed pediment.  A three-stage steeple-clock tower straddles the front of the roof ridge.  A 
bell was added in 1828 and a clock in 1856 which was subsequently replaced in 1947 and is owned 
by the Town.  The roof was first slated in 1853.  Over the years the interior has been modified and 
remodeled.  An organ was added in 1866 (rebuilt 1933) and two furnaces were installed in 1870 (it 
had been heated with wood stoves since 1842).  Interior changes were done in 1868 and again in 
1895 and 1924.  A chapel had been added to the rear in 1880 but was replaced with the Morison 
Memorial Parish House in 1926, designed by Benjamin F. W. Russell of Little and Russell, his last 
major known design work in Peterborough (Morison and Smith 1954:165, 168-169; First Church of 
Peterborough 1953:9; Tolles 1979:111; Zimmerman 1972).  The church was listed on the National 
Register 1973.  A row of fifteen horse stalls, located northwest of the church, along the west 
property line were built in 1905, replacing earlier ones; they have since been converted to garages.  
The Peterborough Unitarian Church was listed on the National Register in 1973. 

Industrial/Dams 
Little or no evidence of the village’s earliest industrial history survives above ground in the historic 
district though archaeological evidence most likely does.  One notable exception is the Bell Mill 
Dam (Photo 256) on Nubanusit Brook, built 1808 and repaired in 1968 after damage from high 
water and heavy ice jams.  The dam dates to the incorporation of the Peterborough Cotton 
Manufacturing and construction of a mill, the first cotton factory in Peterborough, in 1808.  The 
adjacent site on the north bank of the brook had first been developed with a saw- and gristmill by the 
1750s (Morison and Smith, 1:355).  Located approximately 300' downstream from the Elm Street 
Bridge, the 10'-high, 153'-long dam is constructed of stone granite blocks of varied sizes with plank 
facing on the upstream face and a vertical downstream face of large stones with smaller ones behind 
and set on a bed rock foundation.  In the second half of the nineteenth- and early twentieth-century a 
footbridge paralleled the dam.2  The related penstock, turbines, and tailrace were all covered in the 
1920s after the Bell Mill burned and the land was redesigned as a scenic garden by landscape 
architect Fletcher Steele.3  In 1968 repair work included repair of stone core of dam and replacing 
timber and plank face and rebuilding the spillway.  Half of the upstream wood facing was replaced 
and a bottom drain pipe was installed.4     

                                                 
1 The church was long misattributed to Benjamin but church documents demonstrate otherwise.  
2 For a historic photo of the bridge see Morison and Smith, 388. 
3 NHDES Vertical Files, Dam No. 191.08, Elm St. Dam, Application for Preliminary Permit [1981]. 
4 Dam no. 191.07, "Bell Mill Dam," NHDES files, Concord, MA.   
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Photo 18)  25 Main Street (Peterborough Unitarian Church), U017-122 Direction: NE 
 


